
 

 
i 

HAVANT BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CIVIC OFFICES 
CIVIC CENTRE ROAD 
HAVANT 
HAMPSHIRE P09 2AX 
 

Telephone: 023 9247 4174 
Fax: 023 9248 0263 
Website: www.havant.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 

 
 

SITE VIEWING WORKING PARTY AGENDA 
 

Membership:      Councillor Satchwell (Chairman) 
 
Councillors Crellin, Howard, Keast, Lowe, Lloyd and Mrs Shimbart (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Standing Deputees: Councillor David Guest, Councillor Husky Patel, Councillor 
Diana Patrick and Councillor Tim Pike 
 
 

 
Relevant Ward Councillors 
 
Sarah Milne 
Dianne Lloyd 
Diana Patrick 
 
David Guest 
Jackie Branson 
Tim Pike 
 
 

Meeting: Site Viewing Working Party 

Date: 3 December 2020 

Time: 4.00 pm 

Venue: Microsoft Teams - Remote Meeting - MS Teams 

 
 
This is a private remote meeting to enable the Councillors to familiarise themselves 
with a site’s characteristics and request additional information to be provided prior to 
the meeting the Development Management Committee, where it is considered 
necessary to do so. 
 
A site briefing will normally be initiated either by: 
 
a. The Head of Planning in advance of the Development Management 

Committee, in circumstances where she considers it important to understand 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


 

 
ii 

the physical circumstances of the site, and representations of third parties 
(particularly where a deputation is expected), or where the application raises 
issues of precedent where Councillors need to understand the wider 
implications of any decision 

b. The submission of a Red Card and specific request to site briefing by a 
Councillor 

c. Resolution of the Development Management Committee 
 
The site briefing is an opportunity for members of the Committee to familiarise 
themselves with the site officially and have a proposal explained to them by Officers. 
No decision is made at a site briefing; the matter is always referred to a future 
meeting of the Development Management Committee for decision.   
 
Whilst attending a site briefing it is important for members of the Committee to 
consider: 
 
a. The site layout and boundaries; 
b. Physical features and constraints including levels and orientation; 
c. The general characteristics of the site and how it relates to the surrounding 

area; 
d. Nearby land uses, and 
e. Any relevant transport issues affecting the site. 
 
The site briefing should be a ‘fact finding briefing’ and a means of identifying issues 
for consideration by the Development Management Committee. It must not therefore 
be used as an opportunity to debate the merits of an application. There will be no 
opportunity to receive representations from members of the public or applicants. 
Members should however ask questions of the Officers present, make points and 
highlight certain characteristics that they can only draw to the attention of other 
members of the Site briefing.  
 
The minutes of the meeting shall be published. The presentation together with 
supporting materials, which have not already been published on the Council’s 
website, will be published as an appendix to the minutes of the meeting. 
 
Any member of the site briefing who has a disclosable pecuniary interest (as set out 
in the Members Code of Conduct) or has formed a concluded view – in the 
application must disclose to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest. If a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or a concluded view is declared the Councillor must 
not take any part in the site briefing or vote on the recommendation regarding the 
site in question and must not be part of the meeting during the briefing. 
 
Whilst the site briefing does not make a decision on an application or other planning 
matter, it is normal working practice for the briefing to make a recommendation to the 
Development Management Committee in one of the following forms 
 
a. To resolve, on the basis of the site briefing and information available at the 

time, that the site briefing does not wish to draw to the attention of the 
Development Management Committee any additional matters, OR 

b. To resolve on the basis of the site briefing and information available at the 
time, that the site briefing would wish that the Development Management 



 

 
iii 

Committee to consider the following matters in addition to those detailed in 
the Head of Planning report before making a decision:  

 
 1. the need for additional information, and/or 
 2. the need for additional conditions, and/or 
 3. areas of concern arising from the site briefing 
 
The Chairman will seek to secure a majority view as to the recommendation for the 
need or otherwise of additional matters being drawn to the attention of the 
Development Management Committee. If it is apparent that a majority cannot be 
obtained, he will recommend that the site briefing do not record a view. 
 
Any Councillor interested in a matter on the agenda can attend the site briefing, in 
order to have a better understanding of a proposal in their own ward or one that is of 
Borough wide interest. However, other Councillors attending the site briefing will not 
be allowed to address the working party, other than to point out matters of fact, 
detail, local knowledge and history. 
 
No recommendation of the site briefing to the Development Management Committee 
should be regarded as the final view of any Councillor as to how an application 
should be determined by the Committee. 
 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
Gill Kneller 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Monday, 30 November 2020 
 
Contact Officer: Holly Weaver 02392446233 
 Email: holly.weaver@havant.gov.uk 
 

  Page 

1  Apologies   
 

 

2  Declarations of Interests   
 

 

3  APP/20/00696 -  162 Stakes Hill Road, Waterlooville   
 
Proposal: Sub-division of existing house to form 1No. 2bed and 2No. 1bed 

apartments and erection of a two-storey side extension to form 
2No. 2bed apartments with provision of car and cycle parking and 
bin storage. (Revised). 

 
 

1 - 38 

4  APP/20/00757 - Southleigh Park House, Eastleigh Road, Havant, 
PO9 2PE   
 
Proposal: Felling of trees as shown in schedule accompanying plan 20122-

BT1 (agreed under Planning Permission APP/17/00863).  Subject 
to TPO 1068. 

 

39 - 64 

mailto:holly.weaver@havant.gov.uk


 

 
iv 

 



 
—————————————————————————————————————— 
 Site Address: 162 Stakes Hill Road, Waterlooville   
 Proposal:       Sub-division of existing house to form 1No. 2bed and 2No. 1bed 

apartments and erection of a two-storey side extension to form 2No. 2bed apartments 
with provision of car and cycle parking and bin storage. (Revised). 

 Application No: APP/20/00696  Expiry Date: 03/11/2020 
 Applicant: Cloud Lifestyle Holdings Ltd   
 Agent: Mrs Knapp  

BBF Fielding Ltd 
Case Officer: Lesley Wells 

 Ward: Stakes   
 
 Recommendation: GRANT PERMISSION 

 
Reason for Committee Consideration: At the request of Councillor Patrick.  
 
Density: 56 dwellings per hectare 

—————————————————————————————————————— 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The proposal is a revised scheme for the redevelopment of the site following the 
withdrawal of APP/19/01190, which originally proposed the erection of a 2 1/2 
storey block of 7 apartments after demolition of the existing dwelling. 
 
This revised scheme proposes the sub-division of the existing chalet bungalow to 
form 1No. 2bed and 2No. 1bed apartments and erection of a two-storey side 
extension to create 2No. 2bed apartments (5 units in total) with provision of car 
parking and cycle/bin storage on an urban site of 0.09 hectares.  To the south of 
the site is Durham Gardens, with Stakes Hill Road to the east. The Fox and 
Hounds PH lies to the north. 
 
In terms of the principle of development, the site is located within the urban area 
where there is a presumption in favour of development subject to the usual 
development management criteria being satisfied. 
 
The revised proposal reduces the number of flats from 7 to 5 and when analysing 
the scheme, it is considered that the development would not have a significant 
impact on the locality, residential amenity, trees, ecology or the highway network, 
such as would warrant a refusal. 
 
The Council has conducted a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the 
proposed development under Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017, this includes an Appropriate Assessment under 
Regulation 63. The screening under Regulation 63(1)(a) found that there was likely 
to be a significant effect on several of the Solent’s European Sites. The subsequent 
Appropriate Assessment included a package of measures based on the suggested 
scale of mitigation in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy and the Position 
Statement on Nutrient Neutral Development.  
 
To conclude, it is considered that the scheme would contribute to the need for 
market apartments in the Borough on a sustainable site within the urban area, and 
the proposal is recommended for permission. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



1 Site Description  
 

1.1 The site lies on the north side of Durham Gardens and the west side of Stakes Hill 
Road, within the established urban area. The Fox and Hounds public house boundary 
adjoins the site to the north.  The existing vehicular access is onto Durham Gardens, 
with existing parking to the front of the property. A footpath and cycleway traverse the 
pavement to the front of the access. 

 
1.2 There are mature deciduous hedges along the southern and eastern boundaries, with 

fencing along the boundaries to the north and west. Along the southern boundary there 
are mature trees, two of which are the subject of a Tree Preservation Order. There are 
also trees along the northern boundary. 
 

1.3 The existing building on the site is a chalet style bungalow, with a single storey garage 
and extensions to the sides. The bungalow is red brick, with a rendered base and grey 
roof tiles. The bungalow lies to the rear of the site, with a large garden area to the 
front, following the development of the rear garden under Planning Permission 
06/57799/002. The surrounding area is characterised by different types, styles and 
designs of residential development. 
 

1.4 The site lies in Flood Zone 1, which is the lowest risk for flooding. 
 
2 Relevant Planning History  
   

92/57799/000 - Demolition of existing out buildings and erection of 2 single storey rear 
extensions. Permitted 09/11/1992 
 
06/57799/002 - Construction of 2 No. semi-detached 3 bedroom houses with detached 
sheds and new access to Durham Gardens.  Dormer window and external alterations 
to existing dwelling. Permitted 24/08/2006 and implemented – now Nos.36 and 38 
Durham Gardens. 
 
APP/19/01190 - Erection of a 2 1/2 storey block of 7 apartments after demolition of 
existing dwelling, utilising existing access and with provision of car and cycle parking 
and bin storage. Withdrawn 27/4/20. 

 
3 Proposal  

 
3.1 The proposal is for the sub-division of an existing chalet bungalow to form 1No. 2bed 

and 2No. 1bed apartments and erection of a two-storey side extension to form 2No. 
2No. bed apartment. (Total: 5 units). The size of the apartments would comply with the 
nationally described space standards. A private amenity space in the form of a 
communal garden would be provided along part of the north/east boundary. 

  
3.2 Vehicular and pedestrian access to the development would be taken from the existing 

access onto Durham Gardens, with visibility splays enhanced, with a new pedestrian 
access provided onto Durham Garden on the south boundary. The waste/recycling bin 
storage would be located near the vehicular access on the southern side. 

 
3.3 Car parking within the scheme has been designed in line with the Havant Borough 

Council Parking SPD. On-site communal parking would provide a total of 7 spaces, 
which includes 1 visitor space.  Eight cycle racks are also proposed. Electric charging 
points would be provided on 2 of the parking spaces. 

 
3.4 Both foul and surface water drainage would connect to existing sewer networks, with 

Page 2



water efficient taps and dual flushing WC’s to be specified. 
 
3.5 The planning application includes the following documents: 
 
 Arboricultural Method Statement by Bernie Harverson, July 2020 
 Ecological & Bat Potential Assessment by Sylvatica Ecology June 2-19 
 Environmental Noise Survey & Noise Impact Assessment Report by Corbiere Woking 

Ltd, June 2019 
 Transport Statement by MA Wright Ltd, June 2020 
 Design & Access Statement August 2020 
 
4 Policy Considerations  
  
 National Planning Policy Framework 
 Havant Borough Council Borough Design Guide SPD December 2011 
 Havant Borough Council Parking SPD July 2016 

 
Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) March 2011 
  
CS11 (Protecting and Enhancing the Special Environment and Heritage of Havant 

Borough) 
CS8 (Community Safety) 
CS9 (Housing) 
CS16 (High Quality Design) 
CS17 (Concentration and Distribution of Development within the Urban Areas) 
CS19 (Effective Provision of Infrastructure) 
CS20 (Transport and Access Strategy) 
CS21 (Developer Requirements) 
DM10 (Pollution) 
DM13 (Car and Cycle Parking on Residential Development) 
DM6 (Coordination of Development) 
DM8 (Conservation, Protection and Enhancement of Existing Natural Feature 
DM10  (Pollution) 
 
Havant Borough Local Plan (Allocations) July 2014 
  
AL1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) 
DM24 (Recreational Disturbance to Special Protected Areas (SPAs) from 

Residential Development) 
AL2 (Urban Area Boundaries and Undeveloped Gaps between Settlements) 
 
Havant Borough Pre Submission Local Plan 2036 
 
DR1 – Delivery of Sustainable Development  
IN1 - Effective Provision of Infrastructure  
IN3 – Transport and Parking in new development  
E1 – High Quality Design  
E2 - Health and wellbeing  
E3 – Landscape and settlement boundaries  
E12 – Low Carbon Design 
E14  The Local Ecology Network  
E15 – Protected Species  
E18 – Trees, hedgerows and woodland  
E20 – Drainage infrastructure in new development  
E22 – Amenity and pollution 

Page 3



Ex1 – Water quality  
  

Housing  
H1- High Quality Homes  
H3 – Housing Density   
 

 Listed Building Grade: Not applicable. 
 Conservation Area: Not applicable. 
 
5 Statutory and Non Statutory Consultations  
  

Arboriculturalist - No Objection 
 
I have no objection in principal to the new proposals however I have the following 
comments: -  
 
It is noted within the supplied documents that an engineer designed piled solution or 
Abbey Pynford system of construction will be used, details will need to be submitted for 
approval prior to commencement (conditioned).  
 
Provided there is extensive Arboricultural supervision undertaken as detailed in the arb 
method statement, the development is achievable in terms of retention of the trees.  
 
If permission is to be granted please could conditions be added in respect of a pre 
commencement meeting with the Arboricultural Consultant, Site agent and Council 
Arboricultural Officer prior to commencement. Also a condition added for there to be a 
staged workplan for all operations requiring Arboricultural supervision and sign off to 
ensure a workplan in relation to trees is achieved.  
 
Details of proposed utilities and services will need to be supplied and a separate 
method statement to detail how this will be undertaken without detriment to the trees. 
This should be submitted as part of the application.  
 
All work should be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural Method Statement 
and Tree Protection Plan by Bernie Harverson, July 2020  

 
Building Control, Havant Borough Council 
No public sewers are shown within 3m of extension and fire service access appears 
satisfactory. Details should be provided for solid waste storage. 

 
Community Infrastructure 
CIL Liable: http://www.havant.gov.uk/community-infrastructure-levy-charging-schedule. 
 
Additionally, instructions should be passed by the Case Officer to the CI Team to issue 
the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy Unilateral Undertaking, based on the number 
of net additional dwellings and their respective number of bedrooms. See 
http://www.havant.gov.uk/unilateralundertaking-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy. 
 
See also information on Nutrient Neutrality: www.havant.gov.uk/nitrogen 

 
County Ecologist – No Objection 
 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological and Bat Potential Assessment 
(Sylvatica, June 2019) and a Bat Survey Report (Sylvatica, August 2019). The site 
comprises a single detached building set within areas of hardstanding and amenity 

Page 4



grassland with associated ornamental plantings and trees. Overall, I am content that 
the site is of limited ecological value. The building has been shown not to support 
roosting bats and therefore no further surveys are required. 
 
Given the existing ecological value of the site there is an opportunity for ecological 
enhancement, although the majority of the site will comprise either building or 
paved/surfaced parking. Given the lack of greenspace within the proposed site I would 
therefore recommend that the new building provides opportunities for roosting bats and 
nesting birds such as common swift (e.g. swift bricks). Bird and bat boxes can readily 
be incorporated into the fabric of the new building and there is a variety of inexpensive 
commercially-available options. 
 
If you are minded to grant permission can I suggest that ecological enhancements are 
secured by condition. 
 
The new building shall incorporate a minimum of two built-in bat roosting units and two 
built-in bird nesting units. These ecological enhancement features shall be installed as 
per manufacturer’s instructions and retained in a condition suited to their intended 
function. Reason: to protect biodiversity in accordance with the Conservation 
Regulations 2017, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, the NERC Act (2006), NPPF and 
Policy CS 11 of the Havant Borough Core Strategy March 2011. 
 

 
Crime Prevention -Minor Apps 
No comments received. 

 
Environmental Health Manager, Contamination - No Objection 
I have little material to add to the comments provided under the consultation to 
APP/19/01190 (CONS/20/00002, 21/01/2020), and I would refer you to that response 
for justification & context.  
 
Contaminated Land Risk  
 
I would reiterate the proposed condition making explicit the duty to remain vigilant to 
the possibility of potentially harmful contaminants within made soils at the site, with a 
duty to report & appropriately manage any encountered. Suggested wording below:  
 
 
Condition 1: Unexpected Contamination  
 
“In the event that suspected contamination is encountered during groundwork (e.g. 
obviously contaminated soil / groundwater, or any buried waste materials not assuredly 
comprising non-harmful constriction materials); works in affected areas of the site shall 
cease until the Local Planning Authority has been notified of the discovery, and a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with the suspected contamination has been 
submitted to- and approved in writing by- the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The scheme may take a proportionate approach to the degree of formality adopted, 
and may comprise separate results / reports / statements as appropriate, but unless 
specifically excluded by agreement shall include;  
 
1) Reasonable investigation in the vicinity of suspected contamination, sufficient to 
characterise it’s nature, likely extent & mobility,  

2) An appropriate assessment of the risks to all receptors that may be affected, based 
upon 1), and;  

Page 5



3) Where potentially unacceptable risks are identified by 2), a Remediation Strategy 
that by competent persons, and the findings presented as written report. The scheme 
shall be implemented as approved.  
Prior to the occupation of any relevant part of the permitted development, EITHER of 
the following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority;  
     A. A statement confirming that no suspected contamination was identified during 
development, OR;  

     B. Documentation in accordance with 1)-3) above; together with a Verification 
Report (where appropriate) demonstrating that remediation objectives have been met.  
 
Reason: Having due regard to policy DM10 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) 2011, DM17 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Allocations) [2014] and the 
National Planning Policy Framework, there is a potential for contamination to exist at 
the site in connection with prior development activity which could pose a risk to site 
groundworks staff, and future occupants”  
 
In line with para 179 of the NPPF, both the developer & landowner are responsible for 
delivering a safe development.  
 
Air Quality  
 
I note that the design & access statement includes text at 3.5 stating that ’Havant 
Borough parking standards have been met, including cycle parking and electric vehicle 
charging infrastructure (Parking Standards SPD)’, and that the transport statement at 
4.6.2 indicates that ‘a total of 8 cycle parking spaces would be provided on the site 
within a dedicated bicycle storage facility at the southern corner of the site within the 
on-site car park’.  
 
Whilst a structure is shown on the site layout plan in the position indicated by 4.6.2 of 
the Transport Statement, I have not identified any plan annotation identifying this as a 
cycle store, or confirming its capacity. Similarly, there does not appear to be any plan 
mark-up or design detail to indicate how the EV charging infrastructure will be 
delivered. In the absence of any clarification (amendment of details within documents 
to comprise the approved plans) or any conditions aiming to secure these features, 
there is a risk that the impetus to deliver these may be lost.  
 
Given the quantum of development & wording of emerging policy E23, I am not in a 
position to object on air quality grounds specifically, but parking & sustainable travel 
policies apply, and are ‘air quality relevant’ as they directly concern support for 
sustainable modes of travel & low emission vehicles. Raised for consideration as a 
planning / policy compliance matter.  
 
Conclusion  
In line with the response for the previously proposed scheme, no objection to the 
principle of development, subject to the precautionary (non Grampian-) contamination 
condition reproduced above.  
 
Environmental Health - No Objection 
 
Whilst the scheme differs to that previously submitted for the site, we still have 
concerns in relation to the proximity to the public house (north facade of the structure) 
as patron noise in external areas is almost impossible to control and an intensification 
of the use of outdoor areas of the public house might raise issues in the future. I do 
note that the layout of the proposed extension shows no opening windows for habitable 
rooms on this element which means that potential issues have been 'designed out' of 

Page 6



the proposed structure.  
 
The acoustic assessment submitted with the application has not been updated to 
reflect the alterations made to the proposed scheme, however its conclusions remain 
applicable to this scheme making our previous comments still relevant in this case. 
 
Providing the recommended mitigation measures (in terms of double glazing and 
incorporation of trickle vents recommended in the acoustic report) are incorporated into 
the whole development we would have no objections to raise in respect of this 
application. 
 
I would be grateful if the following conditions could be included in any permission which 
you are minded to grant: 
 
1. Construction Environmental Management Plan: 
 
No development shall take place until a site-specific Construction Environmental 
Management Plan has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Planning 
Authority. The plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of the best practicable 
means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration, dust and site lighting. The plan should 
include, but not be limited to: 
 
􀂷 Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint management, 
public consultation and liaison 
􀂷 Arrangements for liaison with the Council’s Pollution Control Team 
􀂷 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or at such 
other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, shall be carried out 
only between the following hours: 
􀂷 08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08 00 and 13 00 Hours on 
Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays. 
􀂷 Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site 
must only take place within the permitted hours detailed above. 
􀂷 Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and Part 2 2009 and A1:2014 – 
Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise 
noise 
disturbance from construction works. 
􀂷 Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours. 
􀂷 Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants. This must also take into 
account the need to protect any local resident who may have a particular susceptibility 
to air-borne pollutants. 
􀂷 Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe working or 
for security purposes. 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the 
construction of the development. 
 
 
2. Noise Mitigation Scheme - approval and installation 
 
No development shall take place above slab level until details have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Planning Authority in relation to proposed noise 
mitigation measures (e.g. installation of approved windows/trickle ventilation as per the 
acoustic specification) – in accordance with the recommendations provided in the 
acoustic report from Hann Tucker Associates, Ref: 26838/N1A1 and dated 7th June, 
2019, - Sections 11. Mitigation Measures and  
 

Page 7



3 . Plant Noise Emission Criteria. 
Before any part of the development hereby permitted is first occupied the approved 
noise mitigation works shall have been fully completed. 
Reason In the interest of the amenities of future occupiers of the development 

 
Hampshire Highways - No Objection 
 
The Highway Authority raised no objection to the previous application, subject to 
conditions. The current application retains the proposed location of the vehicular 
access but alters the internal layout, which remains acceptable. 
In their capacity as parking authority, Havant Borough Council should consider whether 
the number of parking spaces complies with adopted parking standards. 
 
With no change proposed to the vehicular access and the reduced quantum of 
development, the Highway Authority raises no objection, subject to the previously 
requested conditions:- 
 
Conditions 
 
1. Prior to the first occupation visibility splays of 2.4m. x 15m shall be provided to the 
north and west by the clearance of existing material between 0.6m, and 2m. above in 
the case of west, the adjacent carriageway level, and in the case of north the adjacent 
shared use (foot/cycleway level). These visibility splays shall be maintained at all times 
thereafter. 
 
2. Prior to the first occupation at least the first 6m. of access track measured from the 
nearside edge of carriageway of Stakes Hill Road shall be surfaced in a non-migratory 
material. The surface shall be maintained in this condition thereafter. 
 

 
Landscape Team 
 
- Construction detailing as set out in the arb method statement to mitigate any impacts 
on RPA are required to be submitted to ensure the recommendation are implemented. 
 
- The design of the development does not provide private outside amenity space for 
residents. HBC design guide states; 
 
‘Where ground floor apartments are being proposed the applicant should endeavour to 
provide private gardens for individuals where possible. When not possible communal 
gardens should be provided, with safe and convenient access for residents. In addition, 
the design of apartments should incorporate balconies where possible, particularly in 
the absence of communal gardens. However, balconies are not acceptable 
everywhere, particular in historic and conservation areas’. As such we require provision 
for amenity space for residents to be provided. 
 
- A soft landscape scheme requiring submission of fully annotated plans at sufficient 
scale to identify species of individually planted trees, shrubs, hedges, marginal, bulbs 
and any areas of turfing / seeding. Planting areas should show the locations of different 
single species groups in relation to one another, and the locations of any individual 
specimen shrubs. Other information shall include plant specification schedules, 
comprising plant size, number and density. 
- Hard landscape details requiring submission of fully annotated plans at sufficient 
scale that comprise the proposed range of coloured and textured surfacing treatments, 
which identify: 

Page 8



- hard surfacing material type / product reference and colour 
- laying bond 
- edging or kerb detail / type 
- Boundary details requiring submission of fully annotated plans at sufficient scale 
showing the locations of existing, retained and proposed new boundary treatments, 
with scaled elevation drawings to show height, design, materials, type and colour of 
proposed new. 
 
Officer comments: Whilst the amenity space would be overlooked from parts of the 
development this is a communal private area for all residents, where a level of 
overlooking is to be expected. Access to this area is from the front of the property, 
which is considered to be a safe/convenient means of access for future occupiers. 
Private amenity spaces and balconies have been explored with the developer who 
does not wish to go down this route, as it is considered what has been provided is 
appropriate for the development. The proposal is considered on this basis.  
 
A landscape condition is recommended along the lines suggested above.  

 
Natural England Government Team 

Natural England notes that your authority, as competent authority, has undertaken an 
appropriate assessment of the proposal in accordance with regulation 63 of the 
Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended). Natural 
England is a statutory consultee on the appropriate assessment stage of the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment process. 
  
Your appropriate assessment concludes that your authority is able to ascertain that the 
proposal will not result in adverse effects on the integrity of any of the sites in 
question.   Having considered the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate 
for all identified adverse effects that could potentially occur as a result of the proposal, 
Natural England advises that we concur with the assessment conclusions, providing 
that all mitigation measures are appropriately secured in any planning permission 
given. Please find comments on the mitigation below.   
  
Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy  
  
Since this application will result in a net increase in residential accommodation, impacts 
to the coastal Special Protection Area(s) and Ramsar site(s) may result from increased 
recreational pressure. Havant Borough Council has measures in place to manage 
these potential impacts through the agreed strategic solution which we consider to be 
ecologically sound.  
  
Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, Natural England is 
satisfied that the proposal will mitigate against the potential recreational impacts of the 
development on the site(s). It is Natural England’s view that the Solent Mitigation 
Recreation Strategy Contribution adequately mitigates the effects of the development 
on potential recreational impacts on the designated sites.  
  
Deterioration of the water environment 
  
The nutrient budget has been calculated in line with Natural England’s Advice on 
Achieving Nutrient Neutrality in the Solent (version 5 June 2020). Provided the 
competent authority is assured and satisfied that the site areas used in the calculation 
are correct and that the existing land uses are appropriately precautionary, then 
Natural England raises no concerns with regard to the nutrient budget.  

Page 9



  
In line with Natural England’s advice, it is noted that a planning condition will be 
imposed on any permission to secure that the dwellings shall not be occupied until the 
Building Regulations Optional requirement of a maximum water use of 110 litres per 
person per day has been complied with. 
  
It is noted that the approach to address the positive nitrogen budget for this 
development is via Havant Borough Council’s mitigation scheme. We welcome and 
support this initiative which has scope for nutrient offsetting and biodiversity gain. 
  
Natural England has reviewed the Position Statement and Mitigation Plan for Nutrient 
Neutrality Development (August 2020) and Warblington Farm Study Evidence Base 
(Ricardo, June 2020). Natural England concurs with the conclusion of this work that 
this scheme will deliver effective mitigation for developments draining to Budd’s Farm 
WwTW and Thornham WwTW.  
  
The nitrogen capacity of the land and proposed management of the offsetting land has 
been discussed and agreed. It is understood that this has been secured through legal 
agreements to ensure that effective mitigation is delivered for the lifetime of the 
development. It is also understood that a system has been set up to monitor the 
developments using the mitigation scheme to ensure there is capacity available for 
each scheme. Provided this is the case and the long term management of the 
mitigation scheme is monitored by the local planning authority, as competent authority, 
to ensure effective mitigation for the lifetime of the development, Natural England 
raises no further concerns.  
  
It is for the competent authority to determine the importance of timing issues for each 
development, depending on location and form of mitigation applied. Given the close 
proximity of the mitigation land to designated sites, Natural England is not expecting 
any significant timing issues in this case, provided the land is brought into appropriate 
management at the earliest opportunity. In considering the significance of timing issues 
within an appropriate assessment competent authorities should take account of the 
average time taken from the removal of agricultural activities to first occupation and 
rate of completions for each development. Provided the local planning authority is 
satisfied that timely mitigation can be delivered in this case, Natural England raises no 
further comments for consideration. 
 

 
Portsmouth Water Company - No Objection 
 
The site is located in Source Protection Zone 1c (SPZ1c) for an essential public water 
supply source. The SPZ1c relates to subsurface activity only, where the Chalk aquifer 
is confined and may be impacted by deep drilling activities. Subterranean activities 
such as deep drainage solutions and/or piling may pose a risk to groundwater quality 
and the local public water supply source.  
 
Portsmouth Water’s Position  
Portsmouth Water would not object to the proposed development in principle, however 
due to the sensitivity of the groundwater environment we would wish to be further 
consulted on any piling or deep excavations on the site.  
 
Drainage  
The proposed surface water strategy is disposal by an existing main sewer; this is 
acceptable to Portsmouth Water in relation to groundwater protection. The proposed 
foul water strategy is discharge into the foul main sewers; this is acceptable to 

Page 10



Portsmouth Water in relation to groundwater protection. Portsmouth Water require the 
use of the highest specification pipework and designs for schemes involving new 
sewerage systems in SPZ1 to minimise leakage. 
  
Piling & Foundations  
Portsmouth Water would have no objection to piling at this location if the piles 
terminate within the Clay cover, if the piles penetrate the full depth of the Clay cover we 
would expect a piling risk assessment and method statement (detailing the depth and 
type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried 
out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to 
subsurface water infrastructure, vibration and the programme for the works) to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with 
Portsmouth Water.  
Reason: Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods can pose a 
risk to potable supplies from, for example, turbidity, mobilisation of historical 
contaminants, drilling through different aquifers and creation of preferential pathways.  
 
Public Spaces 
No comments received. 

 
Traffic Management Team 
Response to be reported prior to Committee meeting 

 
Waste Services Manager 
No comments received. 

 
6 Community Involvement  
 
 This application was publicised in accordance with the Council's Code of Practice for 

Publicity of Planning Applications approved at minute 207/6/92 (as amended), as a 
result of which the following publicity was undertaken: 

 
 Number of neighbour notification letters sent: 48 
 
 Number of site notices: 1. 
 
 Statutory advertisement: N/A 
 
 Number of representations received: 23   
  
 Summary of comments received: 
  

  Character & Appearance 
 

 Overdevelopment of the site. 

 Scale, massing and height are excessive and out of keeping  

 Out of character 

 Durham Gardens is a quiet secluded cul-de-sac 

 Adverse impact on area 

 Detrimental to visual amenities and spatial characteristics of street scene 

 Waste capacity inadequate, attract vermin 

 Inappropriate site for more housing 

 No need for development 
 

Page 11



 Amenity of area 
 

 Adverse impact on Public House business 

 Increase levels of pollution 
 

 Highways 
 

 Visibility splays inadequate, accident waiting to happen 

 Lack of on-site parking, result in on-street parking which lack capacity - will exacerbate 
congestion problem 

 Road gridlocked due to traffic  

 Yellow lines fail to prevent school visitors parking on them 

 Serious on street parking during drop off/collection for schools/colleges 

 St Peter’s School now a car free environment – further strain on car parking in the area 

 Adverse impact on Durham Gardens (DG) 

 More pressure on local roads 

 Danger to highway safety caused by the use of the access 

 Official cycle route to front of access, danger to pedestrian & cyclists 

 Need to close pedestrian/cycle route during construction, no practical alternative 

 Large footfall used by pedestrian/cycle way for schools & college 

 Health & safety concerns for the community 

 Insufficient space for emergency and construction vehicles to enter DG 

 Visitors park on green and over drives 

 Electrical charging points needed or other renewal energy to reduce carbon footprint  
 
 Trees 
 

 Damage to trees, tree roots and hedges  

 Loss of protected trees 
 
 Occupation of development 
 

 Noise & disturbance from PH & garden 

 Residential incompatible with PH business 

 Lack of amenity area for residents 
 

 
 Flooding 
 

 Potential for flooding 
 

 Other Matters 
 

 Infrastructure concerns 

 Construction concerns 
 
 
7 Planning Considerations  
 
 Habitat Regulations Assessment & Appropriate Assessment 
 
7.1 The Council has conducted a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA), 

including Appropriate Assessment (AA), of the proposed development under 

Page 12



Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  
 
7.2 The Council’s assessment as competent Authority under the Habitats Regulations is 

included in the case file. The screening under Regulation 63(1)(a) found that there 
was likely to be a significant effect on several European Sites due to recreational 
pressure and water quality. The planning application was then subject to Appropriate 
Assessment under Regulation 63. This included a package of avoidance and 
mitigation measures. The first element of this is a financial contribution based on the 
suggested scale of mitigation in the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy. The 
second is a package of measures based on the Council’s agreed Position Statement 
on Nutrient Neutral Development. Natural England were consulted on the findings of 
the HRA.  

  

  Recreational Pressure  

 

7.3 The project being assessed would result in a net increase of dwellings within 5.6km of 
the Solent SPAs. In line with Policy DM24 of adopted Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Allocations), Policy E16 of the Draft Havant Borough Local Plan 2036 and the Solent  

Recreation Mitigation Strategy, a permanent significant effect on the Solent SPAs due        
to increase in recreational disturbance as a result of the new development is likely. As 
such, to lawfully be permitted, the development will need to include a package of 
avoidance and mitigation measures. The applicant has proposed a mitigation package 
based on the methodology in the Developer Contributions Guide. The scale of the 
proposed mitigation package would remove the likelihood of a significant effect. The 
applicant has confirmed that they would be willing to enter into a legal agreement to 
secure the mitigation package in line with the requirements of the Habitats Regulations 
and Policy DM24.  

 

  Water Quality 

 

7.4 The Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) Integrated Water Management 
Study has identified that there is uncertainty as to whether new housing development 
can be accommodated without having a detrimental impact on the designated sites 
within the Solent. NE have highlighted that there are high levels of nitrogen input into 
the water environment at these sites, with evidence that these nutrients are causing 
eutrophication and that there is uncertainty about the efficacy of catchment measures 
to deliver the required reductions in nitrogen levels, and/or whether upgrades to 
existing waste water treatment works will be sufficient to accommodate the quantity 
of new housing proposed. The applicant has undertaken a nutrient budgeting 
assessment for this application.  

  

7.5  The Council’s adopted Position Statement on Nutrient Neutral Development sets out 
that for development on agricultural sites, that it would be expected that on-site 
avoidance and mitigation measures would be used to achieve nutrient neutrality. In 
this case, this site is in use as urban development. Natural England have produced 
‘Advice on achieving nutrient neutrality for new development in the Solent region’. 
This sets out a methodology to calculate the nutrient emissions from a development 
site. The applicant has used this methodology to calculate the nutrient emissions 
from the site. This calculation has confirmed that the site will emit a net nutrient load 
into European Sites. The Position Statement and Mitigation Plan for Nutrient Neutral 
Development sets out a mitigation package which will mitigate the impact that this 
development would have on the designated European Site. The applicant has 
indicated a willingness to enter into a legal agreement to secure the mitigation 
packages.  

Page 13



 

       Appropriate Assessment conclusion 

 

7.6  The Habitats Regulations Assessment concluded that the avoidance and mitigation 
packages proposed in the Appropriate Assessment are sufficient to remove the 
significant effects on the Solent’s European Sites which would otherwise have been 
likely to occur. The HRA was subject to consultation with Natural England as the 
appropriate nature conservation body under Regulation 63(3).  Having considered 
the assessment, and the measures proposed to mitigate for any adverse effects, 
Natural England advised that they concur with the conclusion of the HRA, provided 
all mitigation measures are adequately secured with any permission. The applicant 
has indicated a willingness to enter into a legal agreement and appropriate 
conditions to secure the mitigation packages. 

 
7.7   In other respects, having regard to the relevant policies of the development plan it is 

considered that the main issues arising from this application are: 
 
 (i) Principle of development 

(ii) Impact upon the character and appearance of the area 
(iii) Residential and Neighbouring Amenity  
(iv) Access & Parking Implications 
(v) Drainage Implications 
(vi) Impact on Trees 
(vi) Impact on Ecology 
(viii) Development Contributions & CIL  

 
(i) Principle of development 
 

7.8 The application site is situated within an urban area where further development is 
considered acceptable subject to the usual development management criteria. The 
addition of five new apartments in such a location would make a contribution, albeit a  
modest one, to the Council's overall housing requirement.  
 

7.9 The Council has identified that it has a finite amount of undeveloped land and 
environmental designations in the borough which limit opportunities for new 
development. Within this context, the Council’s strategy for the delivery of new growth 
is to concentrate development within the urban areas where there are existing facilities 
and where new development would have the least impact on the range of highly 
protected designations within the Borough. To support this approach, Policy CS17 of 
the Havant Borough Core Strategy (2011) (Core Strategy) sets out that development 
will be permitted that makes the most effective use of land in the borough.  

 
7.10 Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy supports housing proposals which achieve a suitable 

density of development for the location, taking into account accessibility to public 
transport and proximity to employment, shops and services in addition to respecting 
the surrounding landscape, character and built form. The supporting text of the policy 
sets out density thresholds, and in this regard the proposal would represent a medium 
density development at 56 dwellings per hectare on a site of 0.09 hectares.  

 
7.11 The adopted Local Plan policies echoes the advice in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF). 
 
7.12 Paragraph 117 of the NPPF sets out that planning decisions should promote an 

effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while 
safeguarding and improving the environment. 

Page 14



 
7.13 Paragraph 122 of the Framework supports development that makes efficient use of 

land where it takes into account the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing 
character. Policies CS17 and CS9 together are broadly consistent with this approach.  

 
7.14 The Framework goes further and sets out at Paragraph 123 that where there is an 

existing or anticipated shortage of land for meeting identified housing needs, it is 
especially important that planning decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, 
and ensure that development makes optimal use of the potential of each site.  

 
7.15 The principle of making more efficient use of an existing urban site is therefore 

supported, albeit that the acceptability of the scheme put forward will turn on 
consideration of a number of detailed planning considerations as set out below. 

 
 (ii) Impact upon the character and appearance of the area  
 
7.16 The surrounding area is a well-established residential neighbourhood, characterised 

by a mixture of bungalows and two-storey detached and semi-detached 
housing, with St Peter’s and Oaklands Schools and Crookhorn College of Technology  
to the east on Stakes Hill Road.  

 
7.17 The proposal would convert the existing chalet bungalow to 1No. 2 bed flat and 2 No. 

1bed flats. There would be little in the way of changes to the existing fenestration of 
the bungalow, except for a dormer and rooflights on the south elevation. The key 
change would be the two-storey extension to the north and east which would 
incorporate 2No. 2 bed flats. 

 
7.18 The site benefits from a mature hedge along the southern and eastern boundaries. 

There are also mature trees along the southern boundary, two of which are the subject 
of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO). To enhance the sight lines for the access onto 
Durham Gardens a small section of the hedge, either side of the access would be 
removed, together with a section of the hedge on the southern boundary to provide a 
pedestrian access.  

 
7.19 The maximum height of the proposed extension would be 7.3m which would reflect the 

height of the existing chalet bungalow. The existing gross internal floor area for the 
chalet bungalow is 250sqm. The proposal would increase the floor area to 376 sqm. 
The overall footprint of the development would be concentrated in the west and north 
of the site, with private amenity space in the north-east corner of the site. Car parking 
and the vehicular access is in the south-east corner. The design of the extension is 
traditional in nature, with a vertical theme, reflecting the design of the existing 
bungalow. A dormer to the south on the existing building is proposed together with a 
number of rooflights on this elevation. The proposed materials would be facing bricks 
and render to match existing, with clay tiles for the roof, to replace the existing grey 
slate. The extension would incorporate a hipped roof reducing the overall bulk of the 
development. 

 
7.20 Refuse collection would continue to be provided on-street from Durham Gardens, 

consistent with the existing arrangement for all dwellings on the adjacent street, with 
the recycle/waste storage area located to the south of the access. 

 
7.21 As to the impact on the street scene, the proposal would remain approximately 1.5 m 

lower in height than the Fox and Hounds PH to the north. The proposal would also 
generally be in line with the building line on the eastern elevation with the public 
house, albeit it is recognised that the building line along Stakes Hill Road is staggered 

Page 15



in nature. The proposal is also set off the eastern boundary by over 11m, with the 
amenity area in front of the building, which helps provide its setting. The setting back in 
the site, with a 1.8m mature hedge along this boundary would reduce the impact of the 
proposal on the street scene from this direction to an acceptable level. 

 
7.22 As to the impact of the development to the west this would not materially change, as 

the position and height of the proposal at this point would be the same as the existing 
chalet bungalow. As to the impact on the street scene to the south, this would 
substantially remain the same, as the only changes to the exterior of the existing 
bungalow would be a new dormer and roof lights on the south side of the roof.  As to 
the proposed extension this would be set back by approximately 9m from the western 
boundary and at the closest point approximately 12m from the southern boundary. 
When viewed from the south, this would be screened by existing mature trees and 
hedging along this boundary, providing a level of screening which, together with its 
location on the site, would mitigate the development’s impact on the street scene. 
Therefore, the size and scale of the development, would not be out of keeping with the 
character and appearance of the area. A refusal is not considered warranted on these 
grounds.     
 
(iii) Impact upon existing residential amenity and future occupiers 

 
7.23 The nearest residential properties are to the west of the site, which are 36 and 38 

Durham Gardens. There is a 1.8m wooden fence along the western boundary with the 
existing bungalow sited approximately 1m back from the fence. The existing bungalow 
lies adjacent to the front gardens of 36 and 38 Durham Gardens. Changes to the 
existing bungalow to the rear (west) elevation would be to the windows at ground floor 
level, which would be set behind the 1.8m fence along this boundary. As now, there 
would be two windows at first floor, which would serve a bedroom, which would 
overlook the front gardens of properties in Durham Gardens, not private amenity 
space.  

 
7.24 The proposed extension is set off the western boundary by approximately 9m. The 

extension would not materially impact on neighbouring residential development to the 
west. 

 
7.25 The relationship of the conversion of the bungalow with development opposite in 

Durham Gardens would not materially change, with the insertion of a dormer and 
rooflights in the south side of the roof. This would be screened by mature trees along 
this boundary, with a separation distance of approximately 17m with the closest 
dwelling.  As to the extension part of the proposal, this is set back into the site, 
approximately 12m from the southern boundary at its closest point, with a mature 
hedge and trees along this boundary. The nearest property in relation to the extension 
would be 172 Stakes Hill Road, on the other side of Durham Gardens with a 
separation distance of approximately 29m. The separation distances from the proposal 
are appropriate and reflective of development within Durham Gardens, which would 
not give rise to a significant loss of privacy or overlooking to this property. 
 

7.26 There is no residential development to the east that would be affected by the proposal, 
as there are mature trees along this boundary to the east of the cycleway/footpath. As 
mentioned above, the site adjoins the Fox & House PH to the north, so the 
development would not impact on residential amenity in that direction. 

 
7.27 As to the development’s relationship with the Fox & Hounds PH, and the implications 

of this for future occupiers, the extension at its closest point would be 1m away from 
the boundary and 5m from the PH, with a 1.8m fence along the boundary. The 

Page 16



windows in the north elevation of the extension would service bathrooms and kitchen 
areas only, with obscure glazing at first floor with limited openings. 

 
7.28 The Council’s Environmental Health Team has been consulted over the proposal and 

whilst they have concerns in relation to the proximity to the public house (north facade 
of the structure) and noise associated with its use they: 

 
 “…note that the layout of the proposed extension shows no opening windows for 

habitable rooms on this element which means that potential issues have been 
'designed out' of the proposed structure.”  

 
 Provided the recommended mitigation measures (in terms of double glazing and 

incorporation of trickle vents recommended in the acoustic report) are incorporated 
into the whole development and a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) is conditioned, Environmental Health has no objection to the proposal.  
Conditions regarding compliance with the acoustic report and the submission of a 
CEMP are recommended.  

 
7.29 As to the flat sizes they comply with the nationally described space standards, with the 

size of 1 bed units 54 and 57 sqm – minimum standard 50 sqm for 2 persons. The 2 
bed units would be 70, 71 and 79 sqm – minimum standard 70 sqm for 2 persons. This 
is in conformity with emerging Local Plan Policy H1.   

 
7.30 Communal private amenity space is provided in the north-east corner of the site and to 

a lesser degree to the north of the development. It is recognised that the amenity 
space is not large, but is, on balance, of a sufficient size for the development. This 
area would be screened from public views from the footpath/cycleway by mature 
hedging along the east boundary and by proposed planting within the site to the south. 
Landscape areas are also proposed to the front of the development, alongside the 
footpaths to the flats and the car parking, which would be conditioned and would 
provide a suitable setting for the building. 
 

7.31 The proposal would be of medium density as noted in Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy 
on a site in the urban area, which supports the efficient use of land for housing. The 
proposal would be an efficient use of an urban site, which would provide a satisfactory 
level of space standards and amenity area for future occupiers. The proposal is 
considered to accord with Policies CS9, CS16 and CS17 of the Core Strategy.  
 
(iv) Access & Parking 

 
7.32 The access to the site would be retained via the existing vehicle crossover onto 

Durham Gardens. Improvements at the existing access would take place by cutting 
back of the existing hedgerow to the north and south to provide adequate visibility 
splays of 2.4m by 15m for egressing vehicle and passing cyclists and pedestrians.  

 
7.33 The Highway Authority has been consulted over the proposal and has raised no 

objection to the increased use of the access, subject to the aforementioned visibility 
splays being provided before occupation and the first 6m of the driveway being 
surfaced in non-migratory materials. These conditions are recommended. 

 
7.34 The proposal would provide 7 communal parking spaces, which includes one visitor 

parking space. Two electric vehicle charging points would be provided in the car 
parking area. The surfacing for the parking bays would be permeable paving.  A cycle 
shelter would be provided to the front of the extension, providing space for 8 cycles.  

 

Page 17



7.35 The level of objection on parking and highway safety grounds are noted. However, the 
proposal accords with the Council’s adopted Car Parking SPD and Policy DM13 of the 
Core Strategy and the Highway Authority has raised no objection on highway safety 
grounds. Therefore, the proposal addresses highway and parking issues for this 
development.  

 
(v) Drainage 

 
7.36 Portsmouth Water has been consulted over the development and have no objection in 

principle to the proposal. However, due to the sensitivity of the ground water 
environment, they would wish to be consulted on any piling or deep excavations on the 
site and a condition to this effect is recommended.  

 
7.37 As to surface water it is proposed that this would be disposed of by an existing main 

sewer.  The proposed foul water strategy is also to discharge into the foul main 
sewers. The disposal of surface and foul water is acceptable to Portsmouth Water in 
relation to groundwater protection. 

 
(vi) Impact on Trees 

 
7.38 There are established trees along the southern boundary, 2 of which are the subject of 

a Tree Preservation Order. In support of the proposal the applicant has provided an 
Arboricultural Method Statement.  The Council’s Arboriculturalist has been consulted 
over the proposal and has no objection in principle to the development, subject to prior 
approval of the construction method to be used; that there is extensive Arboricultural 
supervision as detailed in the Arboricultural Method Statement; and with a staged 
workplan for all operations requiring such supervision, with a meeting on site prior to 
commencement with the Arboricultural Consultant, Site agent and Council 
Arboricultural Officer. Details as to services are also required. These conditions are 
recommended. 

 
(vii) Impact on Ecology 

 
7.39 The Council’s Ecologist has been consulted over the proposal and on reviewing the 

applicant’s Ecological and Bat Potential Assessment and Bat Survey Report is content 
that the site is of limited ecological value, with the existing building not supporting 
roosting bats. However, the Ecologist suggests that ecological enhancements could be 
secured within the new build by a condition requiring a minimum of two built -in bat 
roosting units and two built -in bird nesting units. A condition is recommended. 

 
(viii) Developer Contributions, CIL & Legal Agreement 

 
7.40 As discussed at 7.1-7.6 above the Council has conducted a Habitats Regulations 

Assessment (HRA), including Appropriate Assessment (AA), of the proposed 
development under Regulation 63 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). The Appropriate Assessment has concluded that the 
avoidance and mitigation packages proposed are sufficient to remove the significant 
effects on European Sites which would otherwise have been likely to occur. The 
applicant has indicated a willingness to enter into a legal agreement to secure the 
mitigation packages. 

   
7.41 Members are advised that the CIL liability for this site currently stands at £15,030. 
 
 
 

Page 18



8 Conclusion 
 
8.1 The proposed development would be an efficient use of the land in housing terms, and 

would add to the Borough’s housing stock. The impact on the locality would be limited, 
with landscaping further reducing any impact. The development would not adversely 
impact on trees or ecology, or the residential amenity of existing and proposed 
occupiers.  It has also been concluded that the development would not have an 
adverse impact on highway safety, in terms of providing a safe access to the site. The 
proposed car parking levels comply with the standards set out in the Parking SPD, 
both in terms of communal and visitor parking. In addition, it has been concluded that 
the proposed development would not give rise to any harmful impacts from 
disturbance and the natural environment subject to necessary mitigation works 
secured through a S106 Agreement and conditions. Accordingly, the application is 
recommended for permission.  

 

 
9 RECOMMENDATION: 

 
That the Head of Planning be authorised to GRANT PERMISSION for application 
APP/20/00696 subject to: 
 
(A) a Section 106 Agreement as set out in paragraphs 7.1-7.6 and 7.40 above; 
 
(B)  the following conditions (subject to such changes and/or additions that the Head 

of Planning considers necessary to impose prior to the issuing of the decision):  
 

1 The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the 
date of this permission. 

 Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 
 Architectural plans 
 

  Site Location Plan    16014 – PL L03A 
 Proposed Site Plan   16014– PL 401G  
 Pedestrian Entrance from Durham Gardens 16014 PL 411 
 Front Elevation (S)   16014 – PL 406 
 Rear Elevation (N)   16014 – PL 407 
 Side Elevation (E)-    16014 – PL 408 
 Side Elevation (W)   16014 - PL 409 rev. A 

  Ground Floor Plan   16014 – PL 402 
 First Floor Plan   16014 – PL 403 

Roof Plan   16014 – PL 404 
Street Elevation to Stake Hill Road  16014 – PL 405 

 
Statements  
Arboricultural Method Statement by Bernie Harverson July 2020  
Ecological & Bat Potential Assessment by Sylvatica Ecology June 2-19 
Environmental Noise Survey & Noise Impact Assessment Report by Corbiere 
Woking Ltd June 2019  
Transport Statement by MA Wright Ltd June 2020  

Page 19



Design & Access Statement August 2020  
Reason: - To ensure provision of a satisfactory development. 
 

 Materials & Landscaping 
 

3. Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application no above ground 
construction works shall take place until samples and / or a full specification of 
the materials to be used externally on the building(s) have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include 
the type, colour and texture of the materials. Only the materials so approved 
shall be used, in accordance with any terms of such approval. 
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and 
having due regard to policies CS11 and CS16 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

4. Notwithstanding any description of landscaping shown on the Proposed Site 
Layout Plan no above ground construction works shall take place until a soft 
landscape scheme including submission of fully annotated plans at sufficient 
scale to identify species of individually planted trees, shrubs, hedges, marginal, 
bulbs and any areas of turfing has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Planting areas should show the locations of 
different single species groups in relation to one another, and the locations of 
any individual specimen shrubs and plant specification schedules, comprising 
plant size, number and density.  
The information shall also include:  

 A soft landscape scheme requiring submission of fully annotated plans at 
sufficient scale to identify species of individually planted trees, shrubs, 
hedges, marginal, bulbs and any areas of turfing / seeding. Planting areas 
should show the locations of different single species groups in relation to 
one another, and the locations of any individual specimen shrubs. Other 
information shall include plant specification schedules, comprising plant size, 
number and density. 

 Hard landscape details requiring submission of fully annotated plans at 
sufficient scale that comprise the proposed range of coloured and textured 
surfacing treatments, which identify: 

 hard surfacing material type / product reference and colour 

 laying bond 

 edging or kerb detail / type 

 Boundary details requiring submission of fully annotated plans at sufficient 
scale showing the locations of existing, retained and proposed new 
boundary treatments, with scaled elevation drawings to show height, design, 
materials, type and colour of proposed new. 

 Timing provisions for the carrying out of all hard and soft landscaping works. 
The development shall thereafter be carried in accordance with the approved 
details and timing provisions. 
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and 
having due regard to policies CS11 and CS16 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The existing hedges along the south and east boundaries as shown on the 

Proposed Layout Plan shall be retained and maintained at a minimum height of 
2m. 
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and 
having due regard to policies CS11 and CS16 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 

Page 20



(Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
. 

Trees & Ecology 
 

6. Prior to any demolition, construction or groundwork commencing on the site the 
approved tree protective measures, including fencing and ground protection, as 
shown on the Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan by 
Bernie Harverson, dated July 2020 and shall be installed and agreed at a 
pre-commencement meeting with the Council’s Arboricultural Officer and within 
the fenced area(s), there shall be no excavations, storage of materials or 
machinery, parking of vehicles or fires. The development shall be carried out 
strictly in accordance with the submitted details. 
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the retention of 
existing trees and natural features during the construction phase in accordance 
with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS16 
of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011. 

 
7. Prior to development commencing the following details shall be submitted in 

writing to the Local Planning Authority for approval: 
(i) Details of the proposed utilities and services on the land with a separate 
method statement detailing how these works will be undertaken without 
detriment to protected trees; and 
(ii) A staged workplan for all operations requiring Arboricultural supervision and 
sign off to ensure a workplan in relation to trees is achieved. 
The approved works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the retention of 
existing trees and natural features during the construction phase in accordance 
with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy CS16 
of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011. 

  
8. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, details of bat and bird 

boxes to be installed on all of the flats shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved bat and bird boxes shall 
be installed in full accordance with the approved details before the occupation of 
the flats and retained thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of nature conservation and biodiversity net gain, and 
having due regard to Policy CS11 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 Highways 
 

9. Prior to first occupation, visibility splays of 2.4m. x 15m shall be provided to the 
north and west of the vehicular access by: 
(a) in the case of the west, by the clearance of existing material between 0.6m 
and 2m above the adjacent carriageway level; and 
(b) in the case of the north, by the clearance of existing material between 0.6m 
and 2m above the adjacent shared use (foot/cycleway level).  
These visibility splays shall be maintained at all times thereafter. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and having due regard to policies 
CS16 and CS20 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development at least the first 6m. of the access 

Page 21



measured from the nearside edge of carriageway of the adjacent highway shall 
be surfaced in non-migratory material. This area shall be maintained in this 
condition thereafter.  
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and having due regard to policies 
CS16 and CS20 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
11. The car parking and other vehicular access arrangements shown on the 

approved plans to serve the development hereby permitted shall be made fully 
available for use prior to the development being first brought into use and shall 
be retained thereafter for their intended purpose. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and having due regard to policy 
DM13 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
12. Prior to the first occupation of the development details of the cycle shelter shall 

be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority for approval. The 
approved shelter shall be installed before occupation in accordance with the 
approved details and therefore maintained. 

 Reason: In the interests of alternative transport provision and in accordance with 
Havant’s Car Parking SPD, Policy DM13 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
Electric Charging Points 

 
13. Prior to the occupation of the development full details of the Electrical Vehicle 

Charging points, as shown on approved plan 16014 – Pl 4016 shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall 
include samples, location and / or a full specification of the materials to be used 
externally on the buildings. Only the materials so approved shall be used, in 
accordance with any terms of such approval and shall be retained at all times, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Charging 
Points shall be installed prior to the occupation of the development. 
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and 
having due regard to policies CS11 and CS16 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Core Strategy) 2011 and Policy IN3 of the Pre-Submission Havant Borough 
Local Plan 2036 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Drainage 

 
14. In the event that piling is to be carried out on the site, prior to development 

commencing, a piling risk assessment and method statement (detailing the depth 
and type of piling to be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will 
be carried out, including measures to prevent and minimise the potential for 
damage to subsurface water infrastructure, vibration and the programme for the 
works) shall be undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The piling shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 
Reason: Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods can 
pose a risk to potable supplies from, for example, turbidity, mobilisation of 
historical contaminants, drilling through different aquifers and creation of 
preferential pathways, having due regard to policies CS16 and DM10 of the 
Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

Page 22



15. No development hereby permitted shall commence until plans and particulars 
specifying the layout, depth and capacity of all foul and surface water drains, 
SuDs features and sewers proposed to serve the same, and details of any other 
proposed ancillary drainage works/plant (e.g. pumping stations) have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless 
agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the development 
hereby permitted shall not be brought into use prior to the completion of the 
implementation of all such drainage provision in full accordance with such plans 
and particulars as are thus approved by the Authority. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the locality and ensure that all such 
drainage provision is constructed to an appropriate standard and quality and 
having due regard to policies CS15, CS16 and DM10 of the Havant Borough 
Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
16. Prior to occupation the following drainage details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: Details of consent from the 
Sewerage Authority for a connection to the public sewer for the development. 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
Reason: Without the provision of an appropriate drainage connection point the 
development cannot be occupied having due regard to policies CS16 and DM10 
of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
Water Efficiency/sustainability 

 
17. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until: 
 

(a)  A water efficiency calculation in accordance with the Government's 
National Calculation Methodology for assessing water efficiency in new 
dwellings has been undertaken which demonstrates that no more than 110 
litres of water per person per day shall be consumed within the 
development, and this calculation has been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority; and 

(b)  All measures necessary to meet the approved water efficiency calculation 
have been installed. 

Reason: There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in 
the water environment with evidence of eutrophication at some European 
designated nature conservation sites in the Solent catchment. The PUSH 
Integrated Water Management Strategy has identified that there is uncertainty as 
to whether new housing development can be accommodated without having a 
detrimental impact on the designated sites within the Solent. Further detail 
regarding this can be found in the appropriate assessment that was carried out 
regarding this planning application. To ensure that the proposal may proceed as 
sustainable development, there is a duty upon the local planning authority to 
ensure that sufficient mitigation is provided against any impacts which might 
arise upon the designated sites. In coming to this decision, the Council have had 
regard to Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017, Policy CS11 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011, and 
Policy E14, EX1 and E12 of the Pre-Submission Havant Borough Local Plan. 

 
18. At all times following occupation of the development hereby approved, all 

measures necessary to meet the approved water efficiency calculation shall be 
maintained so as to ensure that no more than 110 litres per person per day shall 
be consumed in the development in perpetuity.  
Reason: There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in 

Page 23



the water environment with evidence of eutrophication at some European 
designated nature conservation sites in the Solent catchment. The PUSH 
Integrated Water Management Strategy has identified that there is uncertainty as 
to whether new housing development can be accommodated without having a 
detrimental impact on the designated sites within the Solent. Further detail 
regarding this can be found in the appropriate assessment that was carried out 
regarding this planning application. To ensure that the proposal may proceed as 
sustainable development, there is a duty upon the local planning authority to 
ensure that necessary avoidance measures are provided against any impacts 
which might arise upon the designated sites. In coming to this decision, the 
Council have had regard to Regulation 63 of the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017, Policy CS11 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) 2011 and Policy E14 EX1 and E12 of the Pre-Submission Havant 
Borough Local Plan. 
 
Contamination & Noise 

 
19. No development shall take place until a site-specific Construction Environmental 

Management Plan has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of 
the best practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, vibration, dust and site 
lighting. The plan should include, but not be limited to: 
 Procedures for maintaining good public relations including complaint 

management, public consultation and liaison 

 Arrangements for liaison with the Council’s Pollution Control Team 

 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or 
at such other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, 
shall be carried out only between the following hours: 
08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08 00 and 13 00 
Hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays. 

 Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from 
the site must only take place within the permitted hours detailed above. 

 Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and Part 2 2009 and 
A1:2014 – Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites shall 
be used to minimise noise disturbance from construction works. 

 Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours. 

 Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants. This must also 
take into account the need to protect any local resident who may have a 
particular susceptibility to air-borne pollutants. 

 Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required for safe 
working or for security purposes. 

 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the 
construction of the development having due regard to policies CS16 and DM10 
of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011 and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
20. The acoustic measures in terms of double glazing and incorporation of trickle 

vents shall take place in accordance with the Environmental Noise Survey & 
Noise Impact Assessment Report by Corbiere Woking Ltd June 2019. Before any 
part of the development hereby permitted is first occupied the approved noise 
mitigation works shall have been fully completed. 

   Reason In the interest of the amenities of future occupiers of the development in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 
2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 24



 
21. In the event that suspected contamination is encountered during groundwork 

(e.g. obviously contaminated soil / groundwater, or any buried waste materials 
not assuredly comprising non-harmful constriction materials); works in affected 
areas of the site shall cease until the Local Planning Authority has been notified 
of the discovery, and a scheme to deal with the risks associated with the 
suspected contamination has been submitted to- and approved in writing by- the 
Local Planning Authority.  
The scheme may take a proportionate approach to the degree of formality 
adopted, and may comprise separate results / reports / statements as 
appropriate, but unless specifically excluded by agreement shall include;  
1)  Reasonable investigation in the vicinity of suspected contamination, 

sufficient to characterise its nature, likely extent & mobility,  

2)  An appropriate assessment of the risks to all receptors that may be 
affected, based upon 1), and;  

3)  Where potentially unacceptable risks are identified by 2), a Remediation 
Strategy that includes appropriately considered remedial objectives and 
clearly defined proposals for achieving these, having due regard to 
sustainability.  

All investigation, assessments & other actions required by 1)-3) above (and B, 
below) shall be undertaken by competent persons, and the findings presented as 
written report. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.  
Prior to the occupation of any relevant part of the permitted development, 
EITHER of the following shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority;  
A.  A statement confirming that no suspected contamination was identified 

during development, OR;  

B.  Documentation in accordance with 1)-3) above; together with a Verification 
Report (where appropriate) demonstrating that remediation objectives have 
been met.  

Reason: Having due regard to policy DM10 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Core Strategy) 2011, policy DM17 of the Havant Borough Local Plan 
(Allocations) [2014] and the National Planning Policy Framework, there is a 
potential for contamination to exist at the site in connection with prior 
development activity which could pose a risk to site groundworks staff, and future 
occupants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices 
 

(A) Site Location Plan – Drawing No. 16014 – PL L03A 
(B) Proposed Site Plan – Drawing No. 16014– PL 401G 
(C) Front Elevation – Drawing No. 16014 – PL 406 
(D) Rear Elevation – Drawing No. 16014 – PL 407 
(E) Side Elevation (E)- Drawing No. 16014 – PL 408 
(F) Side Elevation (W) Drawing No. 16014 – PL 409 rev. A 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LOCATION PLAN  
 

APPENDIX A 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Site Plan APPENDIX B 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

 

Proposed Front Elevation 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Proposed Rear Elevation APPENDIX D 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E 

 

Proposed Side Elevation (E) 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 

 

Proposed Side Elevation (W) 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
—————————————————————————————————————— 
 Site Address: Southleigh Park House, Eastleigh Road, Havant, PO9 2PE 

 
    

 Proposal:       Felling of trees as shown in schedule accompanying plan 20122-BT1 
(agreed under Planning Permission APP/17/00863).  Subject to TPO 1068. 
 

 Application No: APP/20/00757 Expiry Date: 22/10/2020 
 Applicant: Vivid and Bargate Homes   
 Agent: None Case Officer: Maria Stewart 
 Ward:    
 
 Reason for Committee Consideration:  Request from Director of Regeneration and Place 

 
HNS Recommendation: GRANT TPO CONSENT 
 
 

 
1 Site Description 
  
1.1 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 

The site (3.22ha in total) comprises a number of historic buildings including the 
largest which is known as Southleigh Park House, the buildings are set in a wider 
area of parkland which also forms part of the application area. 
 
Immediately in front of the main house, a formal lawn area forms the setting for the 
main house. There is a large lake in the south-western corner of the lawn. The 
remains of a smaller garden are located adjacent to the west wing of the main house. 
 
There are a number of large, specimen mature trees within the site which form part 
of the historic parkland and garden and date back to the mid to late 19th century. A 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) applies to the site, principally to protect the 
ornamental and larger specimen trees. There is also a large amount of overgrown 
understory vegetation present throughout the site. 
 
Within this application there are two extra trees (in addition to the original application 
- APP/17/00863) highlighted for removal that have been identified as a requirement 
for highway access lines of sight.  

  
2 Planning History 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 

 
APP/17/00863 – Hybrid Application: 

(1) Full Application for change of use, alterations to and extension of existing 
buildings to 20 Residential units, (13 dwellings in the main house and 7 in 
other Listed Buildings) with associated landscaping parking and amenity 
space; 

(2) Outline Application (All Matters Reserved except means of access) for the 
demolition of 1983 office building and associated brick and glass corridor link 
and development of up to 70 residential units, associated landscaping, 
parking and infrastructure works. 

 
This hybrid application was considered by the Development Management Committee 
at its meeting on 5th April 2018, at which time, and amongst other matters, 
consideration was given to the impact of the development on protected trees on the 
site, in the context of a Landscape Strategy Plan (see Appendix F) showing an 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4



 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

indicative site layout which would entail the removal of a substantial number of trees 
on the site.  
 
In view of the outline nature of the proposal, whilst listing the Landscape Strategy 
Plan as an approved plan, the resolution also imposed the following conditions: 
 
24 Notwithstanding any landscape strategy submitted, no development hereby 
permitted shall be commenced until a detailed soft landscaping scheme for all open 
parts of the site not proposed to be hardsurfaced has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such scheme shall specify the 
proposed finished ground levels in relation to the existing levels, the distribution and 
species of ground cover to be planted, the positions, species and planting sizes of 
the trees and shrubs to be planted and/or retained, and timing provisions for 
completion of the implementation of all such landscaping works. 
The implementation of all such approved landscaping shall be completed in full 
accordance with such approved timing provisions. Any tree or shrub planted or 
retained as part of such approved landscaping scheme which dies or is otherwise 
removed within the first 5 years shall be replaced with another of the same species 
and size in the same position during the first available planting season. 
Reason: To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory and having 
due regard to policies CS11, DM8 and DM9 of the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core 
Strategy) 2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
27 No tree removal shall take place on the site until a reserved matters application 
has been approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason: In order to manage the removal of unprotected and protected trees as part 
of the redevelopment of the site and having due regard to Policies DM8 and CS11 of 
the Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011. 
 

2.4 Planning permission was granted for the hybrid application on 30th January 2019. To 
date no reserved matters application has been submitted, although ownership of the 
site has since transferred to Bargate Homes and Vivid, an affordable homes 
provider. 
 

3 Proposal 
  
3.1 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 

This report considers the application to fell a high number of trees (individual and 
groups) to facilitate the extant outline planning permission APP/17/00863, which are 
subject of a Tree Preservation Order (TPO) 1068.   
 
The applicant provides the following reasoning for the application to be submitted 
now rather than for any tree works to await the determination of a reserved 
matter/discharge of condition submission pursuant to Conditions 24 and 27 of the 
outline permission:  
 
If the enabling tree removal works are not completed prior to bird nesting season 
2021 the project will be delayed for at least 12 months, potentially longer if the 
specialist work force we have assembled has disbursed. 
  
The commercial consequences of such delay will certainly result in the loss of the 
currently proposed 20% on site affordable housing allocation and potentially abort 
plans for the listed building which are underpinned by the viability of the development 
project as a whole. 
  

Page 40



Two additional trees at the site entrance need to be felled in order to achieve 
appropriate visibility splays for the S278 approval with the County Council. 
 

4 Policy Considerations 
  
 National Guidance  
  
 National Planning Policy Framework 2012 
 Tree Protection Orders: A Guide to the law and good practice 2009 and addendum 

2009/2012. 
  
 Havant Borough Local Plan (Core Strategy) 2011  
 
 
 

DM8 (Conservation, Protection and enhancement of Existing Natural Features)  
 

5 Statutory and Non Statutory Consultations 
  
 None 
  

 
  
6 Community Involvement 
  
 This application was publicised in accordance with the Council’s Code of Practice for 

Publicity of Planning Applications approved at Minute 207/6/92 (as amended), as a 
result of which the following publicity was undertaken: 

  
 Number of neighbour notification letters sent:  3 
  
 Number of site notices: 1 
  
 Number of representations received: 1 

 
One objection to the works has been received: “This is a very large amount of trees to 
be felled and under a TPO. I believe the trees under the TPO should not be felled as 
the whole point of the TPO is to protect the trees.” 
 
 

7 Planning Considerations    
  
7.1 
 

The main planning considerations arising from this application for the removal of the 
TPO trees are: 
 

(i) Amenity value and condition 
(ii) The basis for the proposed works 

 
(i)   Amenity Value and Condition 

  
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

There are a high number of specimen trees which formed part of the historic parkland 
and garden. There is also a large amount of overgrown vegetation, including 
self-seeded trees as result of the grounds being unmanaged since the 1960’s. Overall 
the trees make a strong contribution to the verdant and rural character of the site and 
provide a high level of screening from the adjoining road network.  
 
 

Page 41



 
7.3 

 
Based purely on the arboricultural merits of the proposed large-scale felling, no 
justifiable reasoning for these works can be applied in relation to this application.  

  
 (ii)    The Basis for Proposed Works  
  
7.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.6 
 
 

In response to officer queries regarding the timing of the proposed works in relation to 
the expectations of Conditions 24 and 27 of the outline permission (which do not allow 
for any tree felling until a reserved matters application has been approved), Vivid and 
Bargate Homes have advised as follows: 
 

 They have been compiling the technical information in respect of 
pre-commencement works needed to execute the outline planning permission. 
This primarily comprises intrusive soil investigations to inform foundation design 
and to undertake groundwater monitoring over the winter period in order to 
inform the drainage strategy; 
 

 In relation to the full detailed consent for the Listed Building conversion, none of 
the utilities serving the site are capable of servicing residential flats. The existing 
utilities apparatus needs to be dug up and removed. New utilities apparatus 
needs to be laid to service the listed buildings;  
 

 In relation to the wider site a number of existing utilities apparatus either needs 
to be diverted or removed and then replaced by new infrastructure;  
 

 All new utility infrastructure is required by utilities operators to be laid in a 2 
metre wide trench; 
 

 None of this work can take place with the trees in situ. 
  
Vivid and Bargate Homes also point to the fact that the original Landscape Strategy 
Plan was listed as an approved plan in Planning Permission APP/17/00863, and they 
regard this to be relevant to the decision to be made on this application, notwithstanding 
Conditions 24 and 27 set out above. They also argue that as they are a known 
developer committed to the delivery of the site, this should weigh in favour of their case 
– the conditions being imposed on the outline permission at a time when the eventual 
developer of the site was not known. 
 
As previously outlined the two additional trees at the site entrance need to be felled in 
order to achieve appropriate visibility splays for the S278 approval with the County 
Council. 

  
 Summary of planning considerations 
  
7.7 
 
 
 
 
 
7.8 
 
 
 

The tree removal as outlined in the application is considered to be excessive and will 
have a detrimental impact on the verdant character of the site and to some degree the 
wider reaching street-scene, however there is an extant permission for development on 
site that will inevitably require a degree of tree removal to take place for facilitation and 
enablement purposes.  
 
The proposed felling works have been highlighted as essential as part of the planning 
process to help deliver the site at the earliest opportunity, bringing benefits in terms of 
housing supply, listed building preservation and affordable housing provision, and on 
balance officers consider it would not be appropriate for the Council to refuse this 

Page 42



proposal.  
 

8 Conclusion 
  
8.1 For the reasons discussed throughout this report and summarised in 7.7-7.8 above, it is 

recommended that the current application be permitted.  
 

 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
That the Head of Neighbourhood Support be authorised to GRANT CONSENT for 
application APP/20/00757 subject to the following conditions: 
 
 

1 The tree works for which consent is hereby granted shall not be carried out 
otherwise than in full accordance with all relevant content of BS 3998 (2010). 
Reason: In the interests of tree health and safety.  
 

2 The tree works for which consent is hereby granted shall be carried out and 
completed no later than 22/10/2021. 
Reason: To control the timing of the works. 

 

 
Appendices: 
  
(A) Site Location Plan 
(B) 
(C) 
(D1) 
(D2) 
(E1) 
(E2) 
(E3) 
(E4) 
(F) 

Aerial Photograph 
Schedule accompanying plan 20122-BT1 
Arboricultural Method Statement Plan North 
Arboricultural Method Statement Plan South 
Site Photographs Views along Horndean Road 
Site Photographs Views along Bartons Road 
Site Photographs Views along Eastleigh Road 
Site Photographs Entrance to Southleigh Park House 
APP/17/00863 – Landscape Strategy Plan 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LOCATION PLAN  
 

APPENDIX A 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Aerial Photograph APPENDIX B 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

 

Schedule Plan 20122-BT1 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Arboricultural Method Statement Plan  

(North) 

APPENDIX D1 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Arboricultural Method Statement Plan  

(South) 

APPENDIX D2 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E1 

 

Site Photographs 

Views along Horndean Road (B2148) 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E2 

 

Site Photographs 

Views along Bartons Road 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E3 

 

Views along Eastleigh Road 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E4 

 

Entrance to Southleigh Park House 

from Eastleigh Road 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APP/17/00863 – Landscape Strategy Plan APPENDIX F 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 APP/20/00696 -  162 Stakes Hill Road, Waterlooville
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX D
	APPENDIX E
	APPENDIX F

	4 APP/20/00757 - Southleigh Park House, Eastleigh Road, Havant, PO9 2PE
	APPENDIX A - Location Plan
	APPENDIX B - Aerial Photograph
	APPENDIX C - Schedule Plan
	APPENDIX D1 - Arboricultural Method Statement Plan North
	APPENDIX D2 - Arboricultural Method Statement Plan South
	APPENDIX E1 - Site Photographs Views along Horndean Road
	APPENDIX E2 - Site Photographs Views along Bartons Road
	APPENDIX E3 - Site Photographs Views along Eastleigh Road
	APPENDIX E4 - Site Photographs Entrance to Southleigh Park House
	APPENDIX F - APP-17-00863 – Landscape Strategy Plan


